
COMMON1. EALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

Suffolk, ss. Superior Court
Civil Action No.

Victor Torres, Corey Glover, Mark
MacDougall, Michael Leoney, Basil Williams,
William Dinkins, William Robinson and Keith
Parkinson, on behalf of themselves and all
others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

Larry E. DuBois, Commissioner of Correction,
Michael Maloney, Deputy Commissioner of
Correction, Ronald Duval, Superintendent of
MCI-Cedar Junction, Phillip L. Harrington,
Jr., Director of the Department Disciplinary
Unit at MCI-Cedar Junction, Edwin Doolin,
Correctional Officer at MCI-Cedar Junction,
and Eileen Elias, Commissioner of Mental
Health,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action seeking preliminary and permanent injunctions,

declaratory relief, and damages filed on behalf of all prisoners who are confined by

the Massachusetts Department of Correction (the "DOC") in the Department

Disciplinary Unit (the "DDU") of the Massachusetts Correctional Institution at Cedar

Junction ("MCI-Cedar Junction"). Plaintiffs are proceeding on their own behalf and

on behalf of all others similarly situated who are, or may at any time in the future be,
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confined to the DDU. They challenge both die lack oc process in the disciplinary

proceedings that led to their commitment to the DDU. and the unlawful and inhumane

conditions of their confinement in the DDU.

2. Defendants have been deliberately indifferent to plaintiffs' serious

medical and psychiatric needs, and as a result plaintiffs have been and continue to be

deprived of basic human rights including meaningful human contact, perceptual

stimulation, minimal medical and psychiatric treatment, and minimally necessary food

supplies. They also have been subject to the malicious and sadistic use of physical

force by correctional officers. The conditions of plaintiffs' confinement have caused

and inevitably will continue to cause them to suffer severe physical, emotional, and

psychological harm.

3. Defendants have used an arbitrary and capricious process to sentence

and confine prisoners to the DDU. Prisoners accused of a disciplinary infraction

receive inadequate notice of their hearing and have no right at the hearing to present

relevant evidence, cross-examine witnesses, challenge informant information, or gain

access to exculpatory evidence. Prisoners may be sentenced to serve up to ten years

in the DDU at the unfettered discretion of a hearing officer, and once in the DDU,

may be arbitrarily denied credit for time served in the DDU resulting in essentially

indefinite confinement in the DDU's inhumane conditions.

THE PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Victor Torres ("Torres") is a prisoner in the custody of the

DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about November, 1992, Torres was sentenced to
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serve twenty-six months in the DDU for '>.]', "gedly committing a disciplinary violation.

Torres is presently confined to the DDU.

5. Plaintiff Corey Glover ("Glover") is a prisoner in the custody of the

DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about June, 1992, Glover was sentenced to serve

two years in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary violation. Glover is

presently confined to the DDU.

6. Plaintiff Mark MacDougall ("MacDougalT) is a prisoner in the custody

of the DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about January, 1993, MacDougall was

sentenced to serve one and one half years in the DDU for allegedly committing a

disciplinary violation. MacDougall is presently confined to the DDU.

7. Plaintiff Michael Leoney ("Leoney") is a prisoner in the custody of the

DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In 1993, Leoney was sentenced to serve seventeen

months in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary violation. Leoney is

presently confined to the DDU.

8. Plaintiff Basil Williams ("Williams") is a prisoner in the custody of the

DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about March, 1993, Williams was sentenced to

serve two years in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary violation.

Williams is presently confined to the DDU.

9. Plaintiff William Dinkins ("Dinkins") is a prisoner in the custody of the

DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about May, 1992, Dinkins was sentenced to

serve three years in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary violation.

Dinkins is presently confined to the DDU.
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10. Plaintiff William Robinson ("Robinson") is a prucier in the custody of

the DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about February, 1992, Robinson was

sentenced to serve two years in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary

violation. Robinson is presently confined to the DDU.

11. Plaintiff Keith Parkinson ("Parkinson") is a prisoner in the custody of

the DOC at MCI-Cedar Junction. In or about February, 1993, Parkinson was

sentenced to serve four years in the DDU for allegedly committing a disciplinary

violation. Parkinson is presently confined to the DDU.

12. Defendant Larry E. DuBois ("DuBois") is the Commissioner of

Correction for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, serving under G.L. c. 27, § 1

and G.L. c. 124, §§ 1,5, 6. Dubois is named as a defendant in both his individual

and official capacities. DuBois is responsible for the administration and oversight of

the operations and conditions of confinement of each of the DOC's correctional

institutions, including MCI-Cedar Junction. His responsibilities include the creation

and enforcement of policies concerning medical and psychiatric care for prisoners,

access to legal materials and the courts, and the process used for disciplinary

hearings. DuBois has acted and continues to act under color of state law.

13. Defendant Michael Maloney ("Maloney") is the Deputy Commissioner

of Correction for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, serving under G.L. c. 27, § 2

and G.L. c. 124, § 2. Maloney is named as a defendant in both his individual and

official capacities. Among his other responsibilities, Maloney has sole responsibility,

pursuant to 103 CMR 430.18, to review prisoners' appeals of their DDU sentences.

Maloney has acted and continues to act under color of state law.
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14. Defendant Ronald Duval ("Duval") :s :nc Superintendent of MCI-Cedar

Junction, serving under G.L. c. 125, § 2. Duval is named as a defendant in both his

individual and official capacities. Duval is responsible for the oversight and control

of the entire prison facility at MCI-Cedar Junction, including the DDU. Duval has

acted and continues to act under color of state law.

15. Defendant Phillip L. Harrington, Jr. ("Harrington" or "Director") is the

Director of the DDU. Harrington is named as a defendant in both his individual and

official capacities. Harrington is responsible for oversight and day-to-day control of

operations at the DDU. Harrington has acted and continues to act under color of state

law.

16. Defendant Edwin Doolin ("Doolin") is a correctional officer working

for the DOC and holding the rank of captain. Doolin is named as a defendant in both

his individual and official capacities. From time to time, in the Director's absence,

Doolin serves as Acting Director of the DDU. In that capacity, Doolin is responsible

for oversight and day-to-day control of operations at the DDU. Doolin has acted and

continues to act under color of state law.

17. Collectively, DuBois, Maloney, Duval, Harrington and Doolin are

referred to throughout this complaint as "the DOC defendants".

18. Defendant Eileen Elias ("Elias") is the Commissioner of Mental Health

for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, serving under G.L. c. 19, §§ 1, 2. Elias is

named as a defendant in both her individual and official capacities. Under G.L.

c. 127, § 39, Elias is statutorily mandated to supervise the provision of periodic
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medical and psychiatric examinations and treatment for prisoners confined :o cne

DDU. Elias has acted and continues to act under color of state law.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

19. This action is brought as a class action under Rule 23 of the

Massachusetts Rules of Civil Procedure.

20. Plaintiffs represent a class composed of all persons who are now or

who in the future will be in the custody of the DOC and confined in the DDU.

21. The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

There are currently approximately 120 men confined in the DDU, and the population

in the DDU changes frequently.

22. Defendants' deliberate indifference to the plaintiffs' serious medical and

psychiatric needs, and their need for adequate food; defendants' failure to provide

prisoners meaningful access to the courts; defendants' denial of due process in

connection with plaintiffs' disciplinary hearings; defendants' use of unwarranted

force; and defendants' systematic and coercive deprivation of plaintiffs' basic human

rights raise questions of law and fact common to the class members as a whole.

23. Plaintiffs are members of the class and their claims are typical of class

members. Separate actions by individuals could result in inconsistent and varying

decisions, which would in turn result in conflicting and incompatible standards of

conduct for defendants.

24. Plaintiffs are represented by competent counsel who will fairly and

adequately protect the interests of the class as a whole.
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25. Defendants have acted or refused to act on grour.::: generally applicable

to the class, thereby making relief with respect to the class as a v. hole appropriate.

CONDITIONS IN THE DDU

The Creation and Structure of the DDU

26. On or about January 23, 1992, defendant DuBois issued a

memorandum announcing the opening of a new unit at MCI-Cedar Junction.

Although the new facility was specifically designed and constructed to replace the

antiquated cellblocks comprising the existing Department Segregation Unit in what is

otherwise known as "10 Block," DuBois's memorandum declared that the new unit

would be used as a disciplinary unit intended to punish prisoners for misconduct, and

therefore would be referred to as the "Department Disciplinary Unit."

27. In connection with the establishment of the DDU, at DuBois's

direction, the DOC amended its regulations governing disciplinary proceedings for

prisoners of state correctional institutions by adding to the list of sanctions for

disciplinary violations a "[sjentence to a Departmental Disciplinary Unit for a period

not exceeding 10 years." (103 CMR 430.25(3)(d)). The DOC also amended the

classification regulations to eliminate the periodic review of prisoners confined in the

DDU. (103 CMR 420.09 (1992)).

28. The regulations' simple recitation of the authority to sentence prisoners

to serve time in the DDU does not begin to describe the abuse of prisoners that has

been undertaken by the Commonwealth and the DOC. The punishment of prisoners

in the DDU described by the Commissioner of Correction is being carried out through

policies adopted by the defendants, providing for, or at the very least allowing, the
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callous and sadistic treatment or •-?se prisoners in virtually every aspect of their daiiy

lives. These policies provide for the deliberate and punitive withholding of the very

necessities of life, including food, clothing, and medical care; for the use of extreme

brutality to enforce even the most trivial of prison rules; and for the enforcement of a

regime of extreme and punitive isolation that is known to cause severe and long-

lasting psychological damage.

Extensive Periods of Isolated Confinement

29. All prisoners sentenced to the DDU are held in solitary confinement.

Their confinement constitutes "isolation" in any practical or meaningful sense of that

word. While in the DDU, prisoners are deprived of meaningful human contact,

environmental stimulation, and the opportunity to participate in any prison programs.

30. The DDU is housed in a building attached to the west wall of MCI-

Cedar Junction, wholly separate from the remainder of the prison. It is reached

through a steel door in the main prison wall, and there is no interaction between

prisoners housed in the DDU and prisoners housed in the general population.

31. The DDU is divided into three separate blocks, each having four tiers.

Each tier consists of either ten or eleven cells. In total, the DDU contains 124 cells,

each of which measures approximately eight feet by ten feet. The cells have one

narrow window in the back wall which lets in minimal sunlight, and one narrow

window in the solid steel door of the cell.

32. By DDU policy, throughout their DDU sentence, prisoners are isolated

in their cells twenty-four hours a day for at least two days each week. The other five

days a week, DDU prisoners are supposed to be afforded one hour a day of solitary
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recreation in an exercise cage approximately six feet wide and thiry feet in iengch,

entirely surrounded by a chain-link fence. In practice, however, many prisoners are

deprived of even this minimal recreational opportunity and are continuously confined

to their cells twenty-four hours a day for several weeks or even months at a time.

33. On the few occasions when a prisoner is permitted to leave his cell, his

hands and feet are shackled.

34. DDU prisoners are intentionally and systematically denied any

opportunity to associate with other prisoners. They are denied direct human contact

and may not even correspond with other prisoners outside the prison. They must eat

all of their meals alone in their cells.

35. Prisoners in the DDU are held in a state of severely restrictive

environmental stimulation and complete social isolation. A prisoner sentenced to the

DDU is denied all visitation, telephone, radio, and television privileges for at least

thirty days. Thereafter, prisoners may "earn" these rights and privileges, but even

after they have been earned they are routinely and arbitrarily rescinded or withheld.

36. If the prisoners receive no disciplinary reports during their first thirty

days in the DDU, during their second month they are entitled to receive one non-

contact visit, one telephone call, and the use of a state issue radio. If the prisoners

receive no disciplinary reports during their first sixty days in the DDU, then during

the third month the prisoners are entitled to two non-contact visits, two telephone

calls, and a state issue television. With continued good behavior, a prisoner can earn

up to four non-contact visits and four telephone calls during each month. However,

the DOC defendants have made it so difficult for visitors to get in to the DDU that
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the actual number of visits DDU prisoners receive is significantly less than ihe

number of visits they have earned.

37. A prisoner in the DDU is never permitted a contact visit, except with

his attorney.

38. While confined to the DDU, prisoners are allowed to have only four

books in their cell at a time. They are denied access to any and all forms of

educational programming and materials, and may not even have correspondence

course materials in their cells.

39. Because DDU prisoners are prohibited from participating in any

educational or rehabilitative programs, they are denied the opportunity to earn "good

time" credits against their underlying criminal sentences.

40. If a DDU prisoner is found guilty of a disciplinary infraction at any

point during his DDU sentence, he loses all* of his earned privileges and is returned to

the status he had upon entering the DDU. Furthermore, if a correction officer

arbitrarily chooses to classify a prisoner's infraction as "major," the prisoner will not

receive credit for the prior month served towards his DDU sentence.

41. As harsh as conditions in the DDU regularly are, DDU prisoners are

subjected to even more restrictive conditions in so-called "disciplinary isolation," a

punishment imposed for disciplinary violations allegedly committed during DDU

confinement. When serving "disciplinary isolation," prisoners are permitted no phone

calls, no visitors, no access to radio or television, no access to legal materials, no

access to the book cart, and no recreational or yard time whatsoever.
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42. Because prisoner: are routinely sentenced to serve consecutive periods

of confinement in "disciplinary Eolation," they often are subjected to these conditions

for lengthy periods of time, sometimes exceeding a year.

43. For example, since Robinson's confinement in the DDU in February of

1992, Robinson has accumulated more than 415 days of disciplinary isolation. At this

time he is still serving disciplinary isolation for violations that he allegedly committed

in 1992. In the nineteen months that he has been in the DDU, Robinson has seldom

been allowed yard time.

44. Even those not sentenced to "disciplinary isolation" often are deprived

of yard time. For example, Glover was given a disciplinary sanction of forty-five

days "loss of yard," a sanction which in fact caused him to remain confined to his cell

twenty-four hours a day for seventy consecutive days, with the exception only of a

weekly shower.

Inadequate Psychiatric Screening, Monitoring, and Treatment

45. The conditions in the DDU have caused or will cause permanent

psychological injury to the men who are confined there.

46. Environmental restriction and social isolation of the sort routinely and

systematically imposed in the DDU are well known to present a high risk of severe

psychiatric illness, including a specific, confusional, hallucinatory psychosis often

associated with severely agitated self-mutilatory and suicidal behavior. Defendants

knew, or should have known, prior to implementing policies for the DDU, that the

lengthy periods of isolation with extreme environmental and social deprivation

experienced by prisoners in the DDU and in the DDU's "disciplinary isolation" unit
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-.re likely to cause serious and permanent psychological damage to prisoners. Despite

Lhe likelihood that DDU prisoners will suffer this specific, identifiable psychotic

response to solitary confinement, the DOC defendants have nevertheless intentionally

created such conditions in the DDU, and continue to confine prisoners to the DDU

with deliberate indifference to the grave psychological damage they inflict. In

addition, defendant Elias has failed to fulfill her statutory duty to supervise the

provision of care to the prisoners.

47. There is no meaningful procedure for screening the mental health of

prisoners prior to their placement in the DDU, monitoring their mental health while

in the DDU, or treating their mental health problems while they are confined to the

DDU.

48. Defendants make no effort to determine whether prisoners are mentally

fit for confinement to the DDU prior to their confinement or to reassign prisoners

whose psychiatric status deteriorates as a result of such confinement. When prisoners

with a history of mental illness are placed in the DDU, their psychiatric condition

often deteriorates massively.

49. Furthermore, there is no effective mechanism in place to monitor the

mental health of prisoners confined to the DDU, or to discover the toll taken on their

mental health by the DDU.

50. Upon information and belief, the DDU employs only one staff

psychologist to deal with the mental health needs of the approximately 120 prisoners

confined there. Since this psychologist is also relied upon by DDU administrators to

intervene on the DOC's behalf in prisoner disputes and disruptions, he is generally
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and reasonably viewed by the prisoners w..ui suspicion, and the prisoners do not feel

free to discuss their personal issues with him.

51. Compounding the problem, when the staff psychologist makes his

weekly rounds on the tiers of the DDU, he only is permitted to communicate with

prisoners from outside the solid door of their cells, within earshot of prisoners

confined nearby. Thus, confidentiality is not possible in this process. Since, not

surprisingly, prisoners do not feel comfortable discussing their mental state with other

prisoners listening in, even basic, superficial monitoring is necessarily ineffective.

52. Prisoners suffering from the severely restrictive environmental

stimulation of the DDU have access to virtually no psychiatric counseling at all.

Although, upon information and belief, certain prisoners held in the DDU are

permitted to spend one hour a week with an outside therapist employed by the DOC,

because of rapid turnover in the therapist's position there is little or no opportunity

for a therapeutic relationship to develop. Since this relationship is critical for

meaningful counseling to occur, even prisoners receiving this treatment are unlikely to

be benefitted by it.

53. Torres's plight illustrates the seriousness and urgency of the lack of

psychiatric care in the DDU. In 1989, Torres was sentenced to serve three to five

years for possession of heroin with intent to sell, his first prison sentence. While

incarcerated, Torres witnessed another prisoner being brutally beaten by guards.

When Torres's cries for help were ignored, he set his mattress on fire. Following

this, he was hand-cuffed and brutally beaten by guards. He continues to have

flashbacks as a result of this incident and lives in constant fear that he will be beaten.
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54. Following ±e beating, Torres received some psycr. Magical counseling.

However, in November of 1992, Torres was told he could not attend his scheduled

meeting with his counselor. Frantic, Torres tried to force his way into the

counselor's office. When his way was barred, he broke into an administrative office

instead.

55. After this episode, Torres did not receive more intensive counseling.

Instead, he was charged with a disciplinary violation and sentenced to serve twenty-

six months in the DDU. Upon learning that he was to be transferred to the DDU,

Torres attempted suicide.

56. Upon information and belief, only because Torres had a history of

suicide attempts and overt mental instability while in prison, Torres, unlike the vast

majority of prisoners placed in the DDU, was interviewed by the DDU's staff

psychologist prior to being transferred to the DDU. Despite Torres's history,

however, the staff psychologist.approved Torres's transfer to the DDU.

57. Notwithstanding Torres's obvious mental health problems, Torres has

received virtually no psychological counseling while in the DDU. Occasionally, the

DDU psychologist talks to him from outside his cell door. In addition, he sees a

psychiatrist employed by the DOC outside his cell one hour a week, but the

psychiatrists change so frequently that no meaningful therapeutic relationship has ever

been established.

58. The severely restrictive conditions in the DDU, compounded with its

lack of psychiatric care, have only served to exacerbate Torres's mental anguish.

Sadly, but not surprisingly, Torres has attempted to take his own life on more than
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une occasion while in the DDU. Following one such auenipt, he was placed in a

windowless room in his underwear with only a mattress. While there, he was given

soft food that he had to eat with his hands. In response to another such suicide

attempt, Torres was given a disciplinary report.

59. The DOC defendants' deliberate indifference to the serious mental

health needs of prisoners confined to the DDU amounts to a flagrant disregard of

defendants' statutory and constitutional duty to provide for the mental well-being of

the prisoners in their charge.

60. Further, the Department of Mental Health ("DMH") and defendant

Elias have a specific statutory duty pursuant to. G.L. c. 127, §39 to supervise the

provision of psychiatric examinations and treatment to prisoners confined to the DDU.

Separate from deficiencies of the DOC in providing these services, DMH and

defendant Elias have failed to comply with their duty to supervise. Indeed, they have

neither conducted an assessment of the needs of the prison population in DDU nor the

adequacy of the existing system to provide for those needs. In fact, defendant Elias

has been and continues to be deliberately indifferent to the serious mental health

problems of inmates confined in the DDU.

61. Finally, notwithstanding the fact that prisoners confined in the DDU are

kept wholly isolated, without treatment for the serious psychological consequences of

such confinement, and the fact that they are unable to participate in any rehabilitative

programs while in the DDU, prisoners in the DDU are sometimes released directly

from the DDU to the streets.
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Inadequate Medical Treatment

62. The medical care provided by defendants to DDU prisoners i < woefully

inadequate, and defendants have been deliberately indifferent to plaintiffs' serious

medical needs. Although the DMH have a duty under G.L. c. 127, § 39 to supervise

the provision of medical examinations and treatment to prisoners confined to the

DDU, defendant Elias and the DMH have not fulfilled their obligations.

63. Defendants have no system to ensure that the inevitable medical needs

of DDU prisoners are met in a timely and sufficient way. There is no adequate

procedure by which a prisoner who requires outside medical care can receive it, and

as a consequence, prisoners in need of serious medical care have often failed to

receive it. Defendants are aware of this denial of medical care, and have remained

deliberately indifferent to it.

64. The medical staffing of the DDU is inadequate. The prison physician

only visits the DDU two days a week and prisoners who need to see the doctor are

required to put their name on a list a few days prior to the doctor's visit. The doctor

does not examine prisoners whose names are not on the list, and may decline to see

those whose names are on the list.. Thus, prisoners often wait several weeks for

treatment of even acute medical needs and substantially longer for other types of

treatment.

65. Prisoners with obvious medical needs, including those who have

suffered injuries at the hands of correctional officers, have tested positive for the HIV

virus, or have other serious illnesses, are routinely denied necessary and appropriate

medical care.
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66. In addition, nurses assigned to administer presenter, medications to

DDU prisoners are prevented from doing so when the unit is understaffed.

Therefore, prisoners frequently are unable to obtain their prescribed medications. At

one point, DDU prisoners, including HIV positive prisoners, were denied necessary,

life sustaining prescription medications for three straight days. Failure to receive

necessary medication, in many cases, exacerbates the underlying condition.

The Systematic Use Of Gassings, Beatings, and Restraints

67. The policies, procedures, and practices at the DDU encourage the

unconstitutional use of excessive force. The DOC defendants created, promulgated,

and now implement and encourage the enforcement of these unlawful procedures and

practices.

68. The DOC defendants encourage the correctional staff under their

supervision and control to comply with the policies, procedures, and practices despite

their unconstitutionality.

69. Furthermore, the DOC defendants failed to adequately train or

supervise the correctional staff, and fail to monitor, investigate, or discipline the

blatant and unconstitutional malicious and sadistic misuse of force by the staff. As a

result of the defendants' failure, a coercive atmosphere of terror, intimidation, and

violence pervades the DDU.

70. The DOC defendants are aware of this coercive and threatening

atmosphere, and, in fact, encourage the staff under their control to further it. The

DOC defendants are aware of and have approved of the use of excessive force by
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correctional officers, and to a v :nificant degree are responsible for the atmosphere >...:'

violence at the DDU.

71. The DDU staff habitually uses excessive force against prisoners. In

fact, the correctional officers routinely use violent "cell extractions" in response to

relatively minor and wholly non-violent rule infractions. These cell extractions take

place without any process to determine whether the alleged infraction of prison rules

did in fact occur.

72. During a "cell extraction," a team of four or more correctional officers,

armed with clubs and in full riot gear including flak jackets, face masks, elbow pads,

and gloves, charges into a prisoner's cell. The prisoner is usually gassed, and then,

while incapacitated, brutally and maliciously beaten by one or more of the officers.

Because the officers are masked, the prisoner does not know who is beating him. In

addition, the officers often use dogs to remove the prisoner from the cell. Finally,

the prisoner is dragged from his cell, and his cell is often stripped of all possessions.

Although the length and severity of these beatings vary, prisoners generally require

extensive medical treatment following an "extraction."

73. After the "extraction," prisoners are often stripped and placed in an

observation cell. In addition, many are placed in four-point restraint for as long as

twenty-four hours or more.

74. For merely refusing to return his plastic food tray in protest of the fact

that he did not receive bread or juice with his meal, Glover was subjected to a cell

extraction in August of 1992. During the extraction, Glover was gassed with

chemical agents by a team of six correctional officers dressed in riot gear. After
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gassing Glover, the team entered his ceil, hand-cuffed him, then punched ".-r, and

finally took him to the infirmary where he was stripped naked and placed in four-

point restraint for almost twenty-four hours.

75. Similarly, in June of 1993, MacDougall, in the midst of a hunger strike

to protest the paucity of the food, refused to cuff up so that officers could enter and

clean his cell. Rather than simply being permitted to remain in his uncleaned cell,

MacDougall, who was already dehydrated and weak from his hunger strike, was

subjected to a cell extraction. During the extraction, he was maliciously and

sadistically beaten by a team of correctional officers who repeatedly smashed his face

into the concrete floor of his cell. MacDougall has a visible scar on his forehead

from this incident.

Inadequate Food

76. Upon information and belief, the DOC defendants have systematically

denied prisoners confined to the DDU the minimally necessary quantity and quality of

food necessary to sustain them.

77. As a direct result of the small and frequently inedible portions of food

served to prisoners in the DDU, most prisoners have rapidly lost a substantial amount

of weight. This pattern of rapid weight loss will continue so long as prisoners are

restricted to meager portions of largely inedible food.

78. The DOC defendants' systematic deprivation of food is especially

damaging to prisoners afflicted with the HIV virus. Because these prisoners must

maintain their weight and strength in order to fight the fatal effects of the virus,

proper diet and nutrition are critical to their survival. However, prisoners suffering
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from the HIV virus cannot eat the uncooked, undercooked, or cold food served in the

DDU because the virus makes them peculiarly susceptible to the bacteria present in

such food.

79. Despite repeated pleas from the prisoners, the DOC defendants refuse

to change or supplement the prisoners' diets, or to allow prisoners to supplement their

own diets from the canteen available to the general population.

Denial Of Access To The Courts

80. DDU prisoners are denied timely access to an adequate law library, and

are unable to obtain adequate assistance from persons trained in the law to assist them

in preparing and filing legal papers. Thus, prisoners effectively are denied access to

the courts.

81. Because of the gross inadequacy of the legal materials that are available

to them, and because prisoners often must wait weeks to receive requested materials,

prisoners cannot adequately prepare papers in time to meet scheduled court deadlines.

82. The DDU "law library" amounts to approximately thirty-six books on a

rolling library cart. The prisoners must request access to the cart in writing. If and

when a prisoner is scheduled for legal research time, he is taken to an empty cell

within the DDU and allowed to request six books at a time from the book cart.

While prisoners may request additional legal materials and copies of cases from the

main law library, the inadequacy of the material on the cart often results in the

prisoners being unable to determine what further materials exist that could assist

them. Even when an prisoner does know what to request, requested materials
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typically are not received by uc urisoners for anywhere from one week to one mor.ii;

after being requested, and often ire incomplete.

83. DDU prisoners serving disciplinary isolation are denied any access to

the legal research area and to legal materials of any kind. Given the practice of

sentencing prisoners to numerous consecutive periods of disciplinary isolation, some

prisoners are effectively deprived of their rights for months and even years.

84. Furthermore, upon information and belief, no assistance is provided to

illiterate or non-English speaking inmates, and in fact inmates confined in the DDU

are prevented by policy and practice from communicating with inmates confined

outside of MCI-Cedar Junction.

DDU HEARINGS

85. Notwithstanding the severity of the punishment imposed on prisoners

sentenced to the DDU, the procedures employed by the DOC to decide whether a

prisoner should be confined in trie DDU and for how long are grossly and manifestly

inadequate. The regulations and practices of the DOC, as applied to proceedings

which may result in the imposition of a DDU sentence, violate the due process

requirements of the constitutions of the United States and of the Commonwealth in

that: (a) the regulations fail to provide for timely notice of a DDU hearing; (b) there

are no standards to determine which prisoners should be punished by confinement in

the DDU; (c) prisoners are not guaranteed the assistance of counsel; (d) prisoners are

denied the opportunity to confront and cross examine witnesses against them; and (e)

prisoners do not have compulsory process and are often denied the opportunity to

present exculpatory evidence.
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86. The determination that a particular disciplinary infraction will result in

a DDU "Referral" is not governed by any written or published standard. Such

decisions are made in the sole discretion of the institutional "Disciplinary Officer,"

and are inherently arbitrary and capricious.

87. The amended DOC disciplinary regulations fail to provide minimum

due process protection. For example, a prisoner can be called to defend himself at a

disciplinary hearing on only twenty-four hours notice. (103 CMR 430.11(2)). Notice

to a prisoner need not provide a description of the hearing officer's powers, the

procedure to be followed at the hearing, or the evidence upon which the proponent of

the disciplinary report will rely. (103 CMR 430.11).

88. In addition, a prisoner has no right of access to his correctional facility

file in order to prepare an adequate defense. Consequently, prisoners are often

unprepared to defend the charges against them. In fact, when one prisoner wrote to

the hearing officer and requested copies of staff reports, medical records, informant

information, exculpatory evidence, and other evidence that would be considered at his

hearing, he received nothing.

89. Although the regulations permit prisoners to file written requests for

witnesses, their requests often are denied without justification and prisoners have no

means to compel the attendance of witnesses. In one case, the prisoner submitted the

proper form requesting the appearance of ten witnesses. Only two were permitted to

testify. Furthermore, although a prisoner theoretically is permitted to cross-examine

adverse witnesses, there is no requirement in the regulations that such witnesses be

present at the disciplinary hearing. A prisoner also has no opportunity to challenge
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the credibility of an informant or the reii:ib;iky of the informant information

proffered. Prisoners thus are often sentenced to serve DDU time based on nothing

more than an incident report and unidentified informant information.

90. Finally, the hearing officer has unfettered discretion both in

determining which of the four possible major sanctions to impose upon a prisoner

found guilty of a disciplinary offense and, if DDU confinement is selected, in

determining the length of the confinement. Upon information and belief, all of the

prisoners charged with a disciplinary infraction for which a DDU sentence has been

recommended have been found guilty and sentenced to the DDU.

91. There is no meaningful review of DDU sentences within the DOC.

Although prisoners sentenced to the DDU have a right to have the sentence reviewed

by defendant Maloney, plaintiffs are informed and believe that no sentence to the

DDU has ever been overturned. ,

92. The DOC defendants have failed to offer prisoners constitutionally

required procedural safeguards. Consequently, because a prisoner may be arbitrarily

denied credit for time spent in the DDU, under the new regulatory scheme governing

disciplinary proceedings, a prisoner may be required by the DOC to serve an

indeterminate term in the DDU without the protection required by Massachusetts and

Federal law. Plaintiffs have been seriously harmed by the failure of the DOC

defendants to ensure that their disciplinary hearings provide those elements of due

process mandated by the constitutions of United States and the Commonwealth.
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Count I
(Violations of the United States Constitution

- Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments)

42 U.S.C. § 1983

93. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 92.

94. The DOC defendants, acting under Color of state law, have sentenced

plaintiffs to confinement in the DDU as a punishment for plaintiffs' alleged

disciplinary offenses.

95. Defendants have deliberately created an environment of sensory

deprivation in the DDU that defendants know is likely to cause serious and permanent

mental and physical harm to prisoners confined in the DDU. Notwithstanding the fact

that they intentionally created the conditions causing the harm, defendants have been

deliberately indifferent to the serious medical and psychiatric needs of prisoners

confined in the DDU.

96. The DOC defendants have encouraged the malicious and sadistic use of

excessive force by correctional officers in the DDU and have denied plaintiffs the

minimally civilized measures of life's necessities.

97. As described herein, plaintiffs' confinement in the DDU amounts to

cruel and unusual punishment in violation of plaintiffs' rights under the Eighth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and plaintiffs have been

seriously harmed thereby.

98. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under 42

U.S.C. § 1983.
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Count II
(Violations of the Massachusetts Decoration of Rights

- Article 26)

99. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 98.

100. The DOC defendants, acting under color of state law, have sentenced

plaintiffs to confinement in the DDU as a punishment for plaintiffs' alleged

disciplinary offenses.

101. The confinement of plaintiffs in the DDU by the DOC defendants for

extended periods of time under the conditions described above constitutes cruel or

unusual punishment in violation of plaintiffs' rights under Article 26 of the

Declaration of Rights of the Massachusetts Constitution, and plaintiffs have been

seriously harmed thereby.

102. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under the

Massachusetts Constitution.

Count HI
(Violations of G.L. c. 127, § 40 - Isolation)

103. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

102.

104. Under G.L. c. 127, § 40, a prisoner may not be sentenced to serve

more than a total of fifteen days in an isolation unit for any one offense.

105. Confinement in the DDU is confinement in an "isolation unit" as

defined in G.L. c. 127, § 40.

106. The DOC defendants have regularly violated c. 127, § 40 by confining

prisoners in the DDU for longer than fifteen days and thereby have seriously harmed

plaintiffs.
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107. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief • r.der

G.L. c. 127, § 40.

Count IV
(Violations of G.L. c. 127, § 39

- Medical and Psychiatric Examination and Treatment)

108. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

107.

109. Pursuant to G.L. c. 127, § 39, M[u]nder the supervision of the

department of mental health, all prisoners confined to a segregated unit shall be given

periodic medical and psychiatric examinations, and shall receive such medical and

psychiatric treatment as may be indicated." The DOC defendants have failed to

provide periodic medical and psychiatric examinations to DDU prisoners or to provide

the treatment that would have been indicated if they had done so. Defendant Elias

and the DMH have failed to supervise the provision of such examination and

treatment.

110. These failures to act by defendants violate G.L. c. 127, § 39, and

plaintiffs have been seriously harmed thereby.

111. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under

G.L. c. 127, § 39.

Count V
(Violations of G.L. c. 127, §§32 and 39 - Treatment of Prisoners)

112. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

111.

113. By denying plaintiffs their rights to due process in the disciplinary

hearing process, by denying plaintiffs food and medicine, and by confining plaintiffs
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in the DDU for extended periods of time under inhumane ccncirons, the DOC

defendants have failed to treat plaintiffs with the kindness require by their

circumstances in violation of G.L. c. 127, §§ 32 and § 39, and plaintiffs have been

seriously harmed thereby.

114. As a result of these violations plaintiffs are entitled to relief under G.L.

c. 127, §§ 32 and 39.

Count VI
(Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution

of the United States - 42 U.S.C. § 1983)

115. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

114.

116. By denying plaintiffs access to educational materials, and by otherwise

arbitrarily restricting plaintiffs in their access to written material and the

communication of ideas, the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under the

First and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, thereby

seriously harming plaintiffs.

117. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under 42

U.S.C. § 1983.

Count VH
(Violation of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights - Article 16)

118. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

117.

119. By denying plaintiffs access to all educational materials, and by

otherwise arbitrarily restricting plaintiffs in their access to written material and the

communication of ideas, the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under
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Article 16 of the Massachusetts Jeciaration of Rights, thereby seriously harming

plaintiffs.

120. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under the

Massachusetts Constitution.

Count
(Violation of the Department of Public Health Regulations Governing

Correctional Institutions - 105 C.M.R. 451.212)

121. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

120.

122. By denying plaintiffs at least "one hour per day, five days a week, of

exercise outside his cell11 the DOC defendants have violated the regulations

promulgated by the Department of Public Health setting forth the minimum health

requirements for correctional institutions, 105 C.M.R. 45L212, thereby seriously

harming plaintiffs.

123. As a result of these actions, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under 105

C.M.R. 451.212.

Count IX
(Violations of United States Constitution - Denial of Access to the Courts)

42 U.S.C. § 1983

124. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

123.

125. The DOC defendants, acting under color of state law, have denied

plaintiffs their constitutional right of access to the courts by denying plaintiffs access

to an adequate law library or adequate assistance from persons trained in the law, and

thereby have seriously harmed plaintiffs.
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126. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled co reiier :nder 42

U.S.C. § 1983.

Count X
(Violations of Article XI of Massachusetts Declaration of Rights -

Denial of Access to the Courts)

127. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

126.

128. The DOC defendants, acting under color of state law, have denied

plaintiffs their constitutional right of access to the courts and recourse to the laws by

denying plaintiffs access to an adequate law library or adequate assistance from

persons trained in the law, and thereby have seriously harmed plaintiffs.

129. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under the

Massachusetts Constitution.

Count XI
(Violations of G.L. c. 12, §§ 11H and 111

- Massachusetts Civil Rights Act)

130. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

129.

131. The DOC defendants, and persons acting in concert with them or under

their supervision and control, have interfered with, or have attempted to interfere

with, plaintiffs' enjoyment of rights secured by the laws of the Commonwealth of

Massachusetts and the Constitutions of the United States and of the Commonwealth

through the use of threats, intimidation or coercion in violation of G.L. c. 12, §§ 11H

and 111, and thereby have seriously harmed plaintiffs.
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132. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under

G.L. c. 12, § 111.

Count XII
(Violations of Due Process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution)
42 U.S.C. § 1983

133. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

132.

134. Confinement in the DDU imposes severe restrictions on plaintiffs'

liberty interests.

135. By denying plaintiffs their constitutional rights to due process, both in

the procedure by which prisoners are sentenced to the DDU and in imposing

disciplinary measures once in the DDU, the DOC defendants, acting under color of

state law, have violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the

United States Constitution and thereby have seriously harmed plaintiffs.

136. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under 42

U.S.C. § 1983.

Count XDI
(Violations of Due Process under the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights)

137. Plaintiffs adopt by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 through

136.

138. By denying plaintiffs their constitutional rights to due process, both in

the procedure by which prisoners are sentenced to the DDU and in imposing

disciplinary measures once in the DDU, the DOC defendants, acting under color of

state law, have violated Part II, c. 1, § 1, Article 4 of the Massachusetts Constitution
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and Articles 1, 10, and 12 of th- Massachusetts Declaration of Rights and thereby

have seriously harmed plaintiffs.

139. As a result of these violations, plaintiffs are entitled to relief under the

Massachusetts Constitution.

RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs request that this Court grant the following relief:

A. Injunctive Relief.

1. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all persons

acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from sentencing

any prisoner to or confining any prisoner in the DDU.

2. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all persons

acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from sentencing

any prisoner to serve or confining any prisoner for more than fifteen days in the DDU

for any one disciplinary offense..

3. So long as the relief requested in prayers A.I and A.2 above is not in

effect:

a. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from using

excessive force on prisoners.

b. Order the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control to: (a)

evaluate the mental health of each prisoner prior to his placement in the DDU in

order to determine whether DDU confinement is likely to jeopardize his mental
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health; (b) monitor the mental health of prisoners one: confined to the DDU by

performing frequent periodic examinations; (c) provide counseling and treatment

throughout the course of a prisoner's DDU confinement; and (d) establish a procedure

pursuant to which a prisoner, whose mental health is in jeopardy as a result of the

conditions of DDU confinement, will be immediately removed from the DDU and

transferred to an appropriate facility.

c. Order the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control to: (a)

evaluate the physical health of each prisoner prior to his placement in the DDU in

order to determine whether DDU confinement is likely to jeopardize his physical

health; (b) monitor the physical health of prisoners once confined to the DDU by

performing frequent periodic examinations; (c) provide adequate medical treatment

throughout the course of a prisoner's DDU confinement; and (d) establish a procedure

pursuant to which a prisoner, whose physical health is in jeopardy as a result of the

conditions of DDU confinement, will be immediately removed from the DDU and

transferred to an appropriate facility.

d. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from

withholding adequate food from prisoners confined in the DDU and order the DOC

defendants and each of their successors and all persons acting in concert with them or

under their supervision and control to provide DDU prisoners access to the canteen

for food.
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e. Order the DOC defendants and each of their successors and ail

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control to allow

DDU prisoners access to educational materials in their cells.

f. Order the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control to afford

DDU prisoners at least one hour per day, five days a week, of exercise outside their

cells.

g. Order the DOC defendants to give each DDU prisoner access,

for a least five hours per week, to a satellite law library, containing at a minimum

those volumes set forth in the Stipulation of Dismissal entered into in Cepulonis v.

Fair, U.S.D.C. No. 78-3233-Z (September 17, 1987), and order the DOC defendants

to make adequate assistance available to illiterate and non-English speaking inmates.

h. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all

persons acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from

interfering with plaintiffs' enjoyment of rights secured by the laws of the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the constitutions of the United States or the

Commonwealth through the use of threats, intimidation, or coercion.

4. Order defendant Elias and each of her successors and all persons acting

in concert with her or under her supervision and control to supervise the provision of

periodic medical and psychiatric examinations to each prisoner confined in the DDU,

including a) examinations of each prisoner prior to placement in the DDU to

determine whether DDU confinement is likely to jeopardize his mental or physical

health; (b) ongoing frequent periodic examinations during the course of any prisoner's
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DDU confinement; and (c) examinations designed to assure tha-: • ,\y prisoner whose

mental or physical health is in jeopardy as a result of the conditions of DDU

confinement will be immediately removed from the DDU and transferred to an

appropriate facility.

5. Enjoin the DOC defendants and each of their successors and all persons

acting in concert with them or under their supervision and control from sentencing

any prisoner to confinement in the DDU under the present DOC disciplinary

regulations, 103 C.M.R. 430.00 et seq., or under any other disciplinary regulations

that fail to meet the due process standards required by the federal and state

constitutions.

6. Order the DOC defendants to vacate the DDU sentences of all

prisoners who were sentenced to the DDU under 103 C.M.R. 430.00 et seq., and

order that any new hearing that could lead to a DDU sentence meet the due process

standards required by the federal and state constitutions.

B. Declarations.

1. Declare that defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under the Eighth

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution in that their

confinement to the DDU has constituted cruel and unusual punishment.

2. Declare that defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under Article 26

of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights in that their confinement to the DDU has

constituted cruel or unusual punishment.
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3. Declare that the DCC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under

G.L. c. 127, § 40 by confining plaintiffs in the DDU for longer than fifteen days for

any one offense.

4. Declare that by allowing for a sentence of up to ten years in the DDU,

103 C.M.R. 430.00 is in violation of G.L. c. 127, § 40.

5. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights through

the use of excessive force.

6. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under

G.L. c. 127, § 39 by failing to provide periodic medical and psychiatric examinations

to plaintiffs or to provide the treatment that would have been indicated had they done

so, and that defendant Elias has violated plaintiffs' rights under G.L. c. 127, § 39 by

failing to supervise the provision of such examinations and treatment.

7. Declare that defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under G.L.

c. 127, §§ 32 and 39 by denying plaintiffs adequate food, medicine, and recreation

time, and by otherwise failing to treat plaintiffs with the kindness required by their

circumstances.

8. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under

the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by denying

plaintiffs access to all educational materials and by otherwise arbitrarily restricting

plaintiffs in their access to written material and the communication of ideas.

9. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under

Article 16 of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights by denying plaintiffs access to

-35-



all educational materials and by otherwise arbitrarily restricting plaintiffs in - zir

access to written material and the communication of ideas.

10. Declare that defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under 105

C.M.R. 451.212 by denying plaintiffs exercise outside their cells at least one hour per

day, five days a week.

11. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' federal

constitutional right of access to the courts by denying plaintiffs access ta an adequate

law library or adequate assistance from persons trained in the law.

12. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' state

constitutional right of access to the courts and recourse to the laws by denying

plaintiffs access to an adequate law library or adequate assistance from persons

trained in the law.

13. Declare that the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under

G.L. c. 12, §§ 11H and 111 by interfering with plaintiffs' enjoyment of rights secured

by the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the constitutions of the

United States and of the Commonwealth through the use of threats, intimidation, or

coercion.

14. Declare that by sentencing plaintiffs to the DDU under 103 C.M.R.

430.00, the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under the due process

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

15. Declare that by sentencing plaintiffs to the DDU under 103 C.M.R.

430.00, the DOC defendants have violated plaintiffs' rights under Part II, c. 1 § 1,
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Article 4 of the Massachusetts Constitution, and Articles 1, 10 and \2 ot the

Massachusetts Declaration of Rights.

C. Award plaintiffs their damages;

D. Award plaintiffs their reasonable costs and attorneys' fees incurred in bringing

this action; and

E. Grant such other relief as the Court deems necessary and appropriate.

By their attorneys,

' I^TI'

John Reinstein BBO# 4-16120
""Legal Director
Civil Liberties Union of
Massachusetts

99 Chauncy Street
Boston, MA 02111
(617) 482-3170

Dated: January 18, 1994

Scott P. Lewis BBO# 298740
Laurie S. Gill BBO# 192060
Janet M. Zipin BBO# 560203
Joseph J. Laferrera BBO# (pending)
Palmer & Dodge
One Beacon Street
Boston, MA 02108
(617) 573-0100
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